
City of Marathon Planning Commission 

Monday November 16, 2020 

9805 Overseas Hwy 

City Hall Council Chambers 

5:30 PM 
1. Call To Order

2. Pledge Of Allegiance

3. Roll Call

4. Nominations for Chair and Vice Chair

5. Minutes

6. Items For Public Hearing

7. Adjournment

6. Items For Public Hearing

Item 1.   An Appeal Of A Decision By The City Of Marathon, Florida In The Issuance Of

Permit P2020-0637 For A Single Family Residence For Property Located At Lot 26, Tropic Isle

Subdivision, Section A, Having Real Estate Number 00355417-002600; The Appellant’s Reason

For The Appeal Concern The City’s Land Development Regulations (LDRs), Chapter 100,

Article 1, Section 100.2, Chapter 102 Article 10 Section 102.46, Chapter 102 Article 14 Section

102.18, Chapter 103 Article 3, Chapter 107 Article 5, And Chapter 110 Article 3; Providing For

A Review Of This Administrative Decision By The Planning Commission Sitting As The City’s

Board Of Appeals Pursuant To Chapter 102 Article 17: And Providing For A Decision By The

Board.



 

Page 1 of 3 

 

City of Marathon Planning Commission 

Monday October 19, 2020 

9805 Overseas Hwy 

City Hall Council Chambers 

 

MINUTES 

 

 

Lynn Landry called the meeting of the Planning Commission to order on Monday October 19, 2020 at 

5:30 pm. 

 

In attendance: Planning Director George Garrett, Attorney Steve Williams, Admin Assistant Lorie 

Mullins, Senior Planner Brian Shea, and members of the public.  

 

The Pledge of Allegiance was recited. 

 

George Garrett introduced and welcomed new City Attorney Steve Williams. 

 

The roll was called. Mike Cinque-absent; Matt Sexton-present; Eugene Gilson-present; Mike Leonard-

present; Lynn Landry-present.   

 

Landry asked for approval of the last meeting minutes. 

 

Sexton moved to approve.  Leonard seconded.  The roll was called.  The minutes were approved 4-0.   
 

The Quasi-Judicial Statement was read into the record. 

 

The Notice was read into the record: Presentations to the Commission are limited to three (3) minutes for 

each individual speaker and five (5) minutes for the representatives of a designated group. Transfer of time 

between individuals and/or groups is not permitted. To the greatest extent possible, presentations to the 

Commission shall be limited to topics before the Commission for present or future consideration. Letters 

submitted to the Commission prior to the meeting will not additionally be read into the record. 

 

Item 1 was read into the record.  A Request For An Amendment Of A Conditional Use For A Plat And 

Site Plan Approval As Submitted By G98 Development, LLC, For A Portion Of 11th Street Ocean, 

Which Is Described As Being A Part Of Government Lot 1, Section 8, Township 66 South, Range 32 

East, Marathon, Monroe County, Florida, Having Real Estate Numbers 00319960-000000 & 00319970-

000000.  Nearest Mile Marker 47.5. 

 

Brian Shea presented the item with visual aids.  

 

There were no comments or questions from the Commissioners and there were no public speakers. 

 

Sexton moved to approve.  Gilson seconded.   

 

The roll was called.  The item was approved 4-0. 

 



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

Item 2 was read into the record.  An Appeal By Roger Bolon And Alexandria Wolff Of The Decision 

Of The City Of Marathon Public Works Director To Issue A Permit To The Florida Keys Electric 

Cooperative, Inc. To Move Electric Transmission Poles From The South Side Of Aviation Boulevard To 

The North Side Of Aviation Boulevard From 8146 Aviation Boulevard To 109th Street, Gulf Then 

Toward US 1 Ending 117 Feet North Of US 1 And 109th Street.  Said Appeal Is Premised On A Belief 

By The Parties That The City Violated City Code Section 26 (1)(A) And 337.401 F.S. Because The City 

Failed To Recognize The Potential Impact On Adjacent Property Owners, Including Grandfathered 

Driveway Access Or Other Permitted Feature(s) In The City Right-Of-Way As Recognized In City 

Code. 

 

The complete 128-page transcript is available upon request. 

 

Leonard moved to deny the appeal.  Sexton seconded.   

 

The roll was called.  The appeal was denied 4-0. 

 

Item 3 was read into the record.  Appeal Of A Decision By The City Of Marathon, Florida In The 

Issuance Of Permit P2020-0637 For A Single Family Residence For Property Located At Lot 26, Tropic 

Isle Subdivision, Section A, Having Real Estate Number 00355417-002600; The Appellant’s Reason 

For The Appeal Concern The City’s Land Development Regulations (LDRs), Chapter 100, Article 1, 

Section 100.2, Chapter 102 Article 10 Section 102.46, Chapter 102 Article 14 Section 102.18, Chapter 

103 Article 3, Chapter 107 Article 5, And Chapter 110 Article 3; Providing For A Review Of This 

Administrative Decision By The Planning Commission Sitting As The City’s Board Of Appeals 

Pursuant To Chapter 102 Article 17: And Providing For A Decision By The Board. 

 

Stelzer requested a continuance based on his belief that he was not given all documents in a timely 

fashion.   

 

Leonard moved to approve the request for a continuance at a special meeting on Thursday October 29th. 

 

Gilson seconded. 

 

The roll was called.  The motion to continue was approved 4-0.  

 

Motion to adjourn. 

 

Landry adjourned the meeting at 9:15 p.m.  

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________________________ 

Lynn Landry – Planning Commission Chairman 

 

 

 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_______________________________ 

Lorie Mullins-Administrative Assistant  

City of Marathon Planning Department 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Pursuant to Section 286.0105, Florida Statutes, if a person decides to appeal any decision made by the Planning Commission with respect to any matter 

considered at such hearing or meeting, one will need a record of the proceedings and for such purpose that person may need to ensure that a verbatim record 
of the proceedings is made; such record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 

ADA Assistance: Anyone needing special assistance at the Planning Commission Meeting due to disability should contact the City of Marathon at (305-) 

743-0033 at least two days prior thereto. 
  (Please note that one or more Marathon City Council members may participate in the meeting.)  



Page 1 of 17 

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA STATEMENT 

 

Date:  November 16, 2020  

 

To:  Planning Commission 

 

From:  George Garrett, Planning Director 

 

Subject:   Appeal of Residential Building Permit P2020-0637 

 

 

BACKGROUND: 

 

Albert Kretschmer and Harriet Gates applied for the approval of a single family residence 

through BPAS on June 13, 2017.  The property in question is located on Mockingbird Lane (RE 

No. 00355417.002600 / Lot 26, Tropical Isle, Section A) in Marathon (See Location Map).  The 

property has FLUM and Zoning Designations of Residential Medium (RM).  Permit P2016-1493 

was issued to Kretschmer and Gates on August 3, 2018.  Minimal work was completed between 

issuance and the purchase of the property by Seasons 16, LLC.  Permit P2016-1493 was assumed 

by Seasons LLC and was reissued to them as Permit P2020-0548. 

 

00355417-002600 – Season 16 LLC 

Location 

 

 



Page 2 of 17 

 

 

Season 16 LLC applied for a second permit with the transfer of a Transferable Building Right 

(TBR) to the property.  The premise for that request is that the RM zoning classification allows 

five (5) residential units per acre.  See Table 103.15.2 of the City’s Land Development 

Regulations.  Based on a complete review of the permit application, the City issued Permit 

P2020-0637.  It is this permit that the Appellant, Mr. Stelzer appealed. 

 

At the time of application for Permit P2020-0637, Seasons 16 LLC also made an application to 

transfer density to the site.  They understood how large the platted parcel was but, were uncertain 

of the area of mangroves or submerged land See Attachments 1A & 1B..  Based on the overall 

size of the parcel, the City determined that the transfer of TDRs was not necessary.  Neither 

survey given to the City provided an area calculation.  However, the City and Monroe County 

Property Appraiser’s GIS and on-line data indicated that the parcel was 19,058 square feet 

(19,000 sq ft on the MCPA qPublic Website). 

 

All other aspects of the proposed development of the two units met the City’s Land Development 

Regulations code, particularly as that relates to setbacks – front, side, and rear (shoreline).  In 

addition, the plans for the two residences provided appropriate fire separation 

 

Mr. Stetzer has appealed Permit P2020-0637 based on his concern that issuance of the permit 

does not meet all elements of the City’s Land Development Regulations See Attachment 2.  

Similarly, Tara Duhy Esq. for the property owner, has provided their own response to Mr. 

Stetzer’s request for an appeal.  See Attachment 3. 

 

CONSIDERATION: 

 

At five (5) residential units per acre, the minimum property area for one residential unit is 8,712 

square feet (43,560 sq. ft./acre / 5 unit/acre = 8,712 sq. ft. per unit).  Existing residences and 

previously platted parcels are excepted.  The property in question is 19,058 square feet in area 

based on a review of the City’s GIS System and the Monroe County Property Appraiser’s data.  

At 19,058 square feet, the property would allow 2.19 (2) residences (19,058 sq. ft. / 8,712 sq. 

ft./Unit).  The number of residential units allowed rounds down to the nearest integer. 

 

Other considerations  

 

• Density does not accrue to mangrove forests, water, or submerged land (Policy 1-3.2.3) 

o Though Mean High Water (MHW) was delineated on available surveys of the 

property, there was no clear determination of area above or below MHW on 

available surveys 

o As determined by site visit, there are wetlands along the shoreline below Mean 

High Water (MHW) 

o Density which accrues to low quality wetlands (Saltmarsh & Buttonwood 

Association) does accrue density and may be transferred (Policy 1-3.2.3). 

o Such wetlands are, by reality and definition below MHW. 

o Density is transferable pursuant to Policy 1-3.5.16 and Chapter 107, Article 3 



Page 3 of 17 

• Permits as requested and issued, must meet all other aspects of the City’s Comprehensive 

Plan and Land Development Regulations 

o Setbacks – front, rear, side, shoreline 

o Setbacks per fire code 

• If subdivided, the parcel in question must meet all aspects of the platting Ordinance, 

Chapter 102, Article 10. 

 

See Attachment 4. 

 

ANALYSIS: 

 

The City provides an analysis of its own determinations as it issued the permit in question and 

for each point of Mr. Stetzer’s appeal. 

 

1. The buildable square footage of the lot is not large enough to allow for two single family 
homes in an RM neighborhood and the definition of submerged lands is being applied incorrectly 
on the permit as described below. 
See Appellant’s document – pages 8 & 9 
 

The City issued the permit in question based on the two surveys provided by the original owner 

and Seasons 16 LLC which closely comports with the records of the Monroe County Property 

Appraiser.  Again, the area of lot 26 is approximately 19,058 square feet (19,000 in MCPA 

qPublic site).  An indeterminant area of the property is characterized as below MHW and some 

portion of that area may be submerged land or water.  See Boundary Survey attached as 

Attachments 1A & 1B. 

 

• No information is provided by the appellant clearly identifying that the area above MHW 

is less that the required 17,424 square feet to allow for two residences (LDR, Chapter 

103, Table 103.15.2).  The City made a determination that the area of the entire property 

was sufficient to provide for two residence under the LDRs. 

• At time of permitting, Seasons 16 LLC sought concurrent approval to transfer density to 

the property.  At the time, the City determined that the TDR transfer was not necessary 

and upon complete review, issued Permit P2020-0643. 

• After the Appeal was filed, the Seasons 16 LLC insisted on making the TDR transfer, 

thus making any claim that the property did not have enough density moot. 

• Final note, in their underlying claim to point 1 above, the Appellant indicates that the 

following foot notes to Table 103.15.2 apply and were violated in issuance of Permit 

P2020-0643: 

**** Allocated densities for all zoning districts are subject to the following 
additional requirements:  

• Salt marsh/buttonwood association wetlands that are either undisturbed or of 
high functional capacity as defined in Article 4, of Chapter 106 shall be assigned 
a density of 0.25 units per acre for the sole purpose of transferring the density 
out of these habitats.  

https://library.municode.com/fl/marathon/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_APXALADERE_CH106NAHIREPR


Page 4 of 17 

• Submerged lands, salt ponds and mangrove wetlands shall not be 
assigned density for any purpose (i.e., allocated density = 0).  

 
And further, that submerged land is defined as “Land below mean high water and/or the mean 

high water line for an upland water body” (Definitions, Chapter 110). 

 

There is a logical flaw in the LDRs, since Salt Marsh and Buttonwood (SMB) habitats lie below 

mean high water by nature and by definition, and yet are allocated density under the LDRs in 

apparent conflict with the definition.  In compliance with both the City’s Comprehensive Plan 

and Land Development Regulations, City staff has consistently considered that SMB is allocated 

density for the purposes of transfer. 

 

The City issued Permit P2020-0637 (and P2020-0548) in review of a site plan and plan 

documents which it indicates met required setbacks with no variances. 

 

Appellant Point 2 - Encroachment issues. 
a. Plan inconsistency – Questionable if the lot is wide enough 

See Appellant’s document – pages  9 & 10 
 

The City reviewed both residential permit applications simultaneously for consistency with 

setback requirements, to wit: 

 

• Each residence meets required front setbacks 

• Each residence meets side setback requirements as measured from the “drip line” or the “ 

. . further most project(ion) of the principle structure . . “ to the property line on either 

side (site plan only thus far). 

• Each residence meets required setbacks to the shoreline 

• Each residence meets required fire separation setbacks 

 

Permitted projects must meet all Florida Building Code provisions and the City Comprehensive 

Plan and Land Development Regulations.  Once permitted, compliance with these regulations is 

determined by various inspection requirements, including “setback’ inspections.  The Permit in 

question was “stayed” prior to a request or requirement for a setback inspection. 

 

Appellant Point 2. Encroachment issues. 
b. Plan inconsistency – Swales. 

See Appellant’s document – pages 9 & 10 
 

Based on the City’s review of the Permit plans (both Permits), the project meets necessary 

stormwater retention requirements, notably retention of all stormwater on the project property 

(Chapter 107, Article 11.  Further, stormwater retention on site is a Condition of Permit 

approval.  The Appellant’s assessment is presumptive and cannot be verified.   

 

Permitted projects must meet all Florida Building Code provisions and the City Comprehensive 

Plan and Land Development Regulations.  Once permitted, compliance with these regulations is 

determined by various inspections requirements, including “swale’ inspections.  The Permit in 



Page 5 of 17 

question was “stayed” prior to a setback inspection was requested or required. 

 

Appellant Point 3. – Intent to Subdivide 
See Appellant’s document – page 11 
 

At the time that the City reviewed Permit applications, ultimately issued as Permits P2020-0548 

and P2020-0637, there had been no request by Seasons 16 LLC.  As two residences were 

determined to be allowed on the property, there was no reason to make a presumption that 

Seasons 16 LLC would subdivide the property.  Prior to the appeal and in response to Mr. 

Stetzer, the City did indicate that, IF Seasons 16 LLC were to request a Simple Subdivision of 

the property, THEN they would be required to meet the provisions of the Code for platting, 

Chapter 102, Article 10. 

 

Seasons 16 LLC has requested a subdivision of the property, and in review, the City will require 

that any requested subdivision meet the requirements of the Land Development Regulations.  See 

also, my Interpretation of the Land Development Regulations (AI 20-03) relevant to use of 

Chapter 102, Article 10, Section 102.46, Table 102.46.1 – “Minimum/Maximum Subdivided Lot 

Area and Front Lot Width.”  See Attachment 5. 

 

At the time of appeal, a Simple Subdivision would have been presumptive.  The appeal in front 

of the Planning Commission is an appeal only of Permit P2020-0637, a single building permit.  

An application for a Simple Subdivision is currently under review. 

 

Appellant Point 4 – The planned build does not fit the look and feel of the Tropic Isle Subdivision 
See Appellant’s document – pages 11 & 12 
 

The Appellant suggests non compliance with Chapter 100, Section 100.02, points, A, M, and N. 

as quoted below: 

 

“A. Protection of the small town family feel of the community; 

*** 

M. Ensuring new and redevelopment compliments and enhances community character; and  

N. Implementation of thoughtful controlled growth.” 

 

The City’s comprehensive plan designated the Tropic Isle Subdivision as: 

 

FLUM  Residential Medium 

Zoning  RM 

 

As previously noted, these categories allow development at five residential units per acre.  The 

Points noted above serve as broad guidance for implementation of the City’s Land Development 

Regulations.  The points noted are intended to be broadly interpreted, but do not provide a 

quantifiable metric for determining anything related to Mr. Stelzer’s appeal on this point.  There 

are no specific conditions in Chapter 103, Article 3, Table 103.15.2 which would limit the use of 

land at the densities allowed, except for the provisions of Chapters 107 and relevant sub-Articles, 

and then, only under proposed development approval.  Further, the Simple Subdivision of a 



Page 6 of 17 

parcel is allowed as an administrative function, requiring no broader review than assurance that 

the subdivision meets the constraints provided by the LDRs. 

 

The presumption must be that ALL chapters which proceed after Chapter 100, comport to the 

City’s Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Regulations within which they are 

embedded. 

 

The bottom line is that the property owner and Permit holder has issued a Permit (two) in full 

compliance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Regulations. 

 

Appellant Point 5 – Work was done before the permit was issued. 
See Appellant’s document – page 12 
 

Permit 2016-1493 was issued to the previous property owner in August of 2018.  The owner at 

that time installed a temporary electric pole.  No inspection is required for such action.  Beyond 

that, two extensions of the permit were issued, one in March of 2019 and a second in February of 

2020.  No violations have occurred associated with the property.  No violations have occurred 

related to Permit P2020-1493.  In June 2020, Seasons 16 LLC requested a revision to the permit 

which was ultimately approved and reissued as Permit P2020-0548.  No violations of that Permit 

have occurred.  This permit is not the subject of the appeal before the Planning Commission. 

 

Permit P2020-0637 was issued for the second residence associated with the property in question.  

There have been no violations of that permit. 

 

Appellant Point 6 – Permit not valid do (due) to inaccuracies in paperwork 
See Appellant’s document – page 13 
 

After review, the City continues to find that the Permit in question P2020-0637 was properly 

issued, based on adequate information from all perspectives – Code Compliance, Utilities, Public 

Works, Planning and Building Departments. 

 

CONCLUSION: 

 

The City indicates that it properly issued P2020-0637. 

 

• The property in question exceeds the minimum lot area of 17,424 square feet required 

under the City’s LDRs. 

o It is not known precisely how much area of the property lies above MHW or 

within associated degraded wetlands. 

o IN ADDITION, the current owner has transferred density to ensure that there is 

no question about the property containing enough density to allow two residences. 

• The City has reviewed the plan set for each of the permits issued and has confirmed that 

the identical residences meet front, side, and rear setbacks as well as the minimum 

distance between buildings (as measure from the eaves). 

• The city has received a request to subdivide the property in question.  It has not been 

adequately reviewed on this date to issue or deny the request.  As the Appeal concerns 



Page 7 of 17 

the City’s issuance of Permit P2020-0637, the point is moot.  Issuance of Permit P2020-

0637 did not and does not rely on a request to subdivide the property 

• As to “the look and feel” of Tropic Isle Subdivision, the City indicates that the project 

meets all elements of the City’s LDRs and the Florida Building Code. 

• The City indicates that no violations of Permit P2020-0643 have occurred. 

• The City indicates that it received and reviewed an adequate body of information with 

which it could make a decision that the Permit application met the Florida Building Code 

and the City’s LDRs.  Therefore, the City issued Permit P2020-0643 correctly. 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

 

The Planning Commission should find that the City’s issuance of Permit P2020-0637 was in 

compliance with the Florida Building Code and the City’s Land Development Regulations.  

Further, the Planning Commission should find that Permit P2020-0637 was properly issued by 

the City based on the relevant points elucidated in the Conclusions above. 

 

The Appeal of Permit P2020-0637 should be denied based on these findings and the points noted 

immediately above. 

 

 

 

 



Page 8 of 17 

 

ATTACHMENT 1A 

Boundary Survey – 00355417-002600 

 

 



Page 9 of 17 

ATTACHMENT 1B 

Mean High Water Survey – 00355417-002600 

 



Page 10 of 17 

ATTACHMENT 2 

Stelzer Appeal 





MIS - Payment Receipt Friday, September 25, 2020 - l: 17:26 PM hrtp://192.168.20.13 :8086/mis/CityBooks/rptCBReceipt.asp?Sel. .. 

l of l 

Marathon Information System 

City Of Marathon 

PAYMENT RECEIPT 

DEVELOPMENT APPLICATION 

CITY BOOKS 

9/2512020 1:17:26 PM 

�pment Recetrn 

Date: 25 SeP.tember 2020 RE: 123 MOCKINGBIRD LN 

Paid By: JRS Software LLC Real Estate #: 00355417-002600 

Receipt#: OP2020-0100 

Project#: OP202Q.0123 

Received By: Lorie Mullins 

Paid Wrth: Check Check#: 876560 

Amount: �j,500.00 

j: One Thousand Fl1re Hundr-ed DoHars 

Receipt From: _ 

. Ill. 

·Caihim!''s Ghi!Ck

Date: 9./24/20

\ 

>, ' 

Branch: 04-22

'876560 

$1, soo. a·o 

9/25/2020, l: 17 PM 













Appeal 

123 Mockingbird Lane (Lot 26) 

RE 00355417-002600 

The purpose of this appeal is not to say that Seasons 16 shouldn't build a home at 123 

Mockingbird Lane (Lot 26) but to ensure that all written building ordinances are being enforced 

equitably by the city for all who apply. The owners of the properties on Mockingbird Lane, 

Marathon, FL are requesting that permit P2020-0637 (Attachment 1) issued on August 27, 2020 

be rescinded for any or all of the following reasons based on the following ordinances. 

Chapter 100 Article 1 Section 100.02, Chapter 102 Article 10 Section 102.46, Chapter 102 

Article 14 Section 102.18, Chapter 103 Article 3, Chapter 107 Article 5, Chapter 110 Article 3 

1. The buildable square footage of the lot is not large enough to allow for two single family

homes in an RM neighborhood and the definition of submerged lands is being applied

incorrectly on the permit as described below.

Calculation of Buildable Square Footage 

Property Appraiser Site Square Footage* 

Less submerged lands that do not have a density calculation** 

Independent Licensed Surveyor Calculation above mean high water level*** 

Square Footage Required Per City Ordinance Table 103.15.2 (Attachment Z) 

Land Density required per dwelling per City Ordinance 

Two dwellings require 

Footnotes: 

*qPublic.net Monroe county, FL (Attachment 3)

**Footnotes to Table 103.15.2 (Attachment 2 pg. 3) 

** Reese Surveyors Property Survey (Attachment 4) 

Square Feet 

19,000 

1,933 

17,067 

8,712 

17,424 



Builder is short at least 357 square feet to build two dwellings (17,424 less 17, 067). 

Land below the mean high water line was not being subtracted from the 19,000 sq. ft. to 

calculate the actual buildable square footage of the lot. The independent survey (Attachment 

4) clearly shows the mean high water line and the footnotes to Table 103.15.2 (Attachment 2

pg. 3) clearly state that "allocated densities for all zoning districts are subject to the following

additional requirements:"

• Salt marsh/buttonwood association wetlands that are either undisturbed or of
high functional capacity as defined in Article 4, of Chapter ·106 shall be assigned
a density of 0.25 units per acre for the sole purpose of transferring the density
out of these habitats.

• Submerged lands, salt ponds and mangrove wetlands shall not be assigned
density for any purpose (i.e., allocated density= 0).

The definition of submerged land per Chapter 110 Article 3 Defined Terms is as follows: 

Submerged Land: Land below the mean high tide line and/or the mean high water line of an 

upland water body. 

As seen by the calculations and definitions in the Marathon City Ordinances, the planning 

department has not calculated the density properly and this project does not meet minimum 

requirements. Therefore the property owners of Mockingbird Lane are requesting the permit 

to be rescinded. 

2. Encroachment issues

a. Plan inconsistency - Questionable if the lot is wide enough

The width of the lot is 100 ft wide. Since the builder is trying to build two houses

on the one lot, the widest each house can be is 40 ft. wide with five foot setbacks

from each of the side rooflines. (4 setbacks x 5 ft. each = 20 ft.) Because the

builder is using every inch of width possible on this lot, the plans need to be

accurate and the homes built exactly to the inch so that there are no

encroachment issues.

The plan package measurements do not agree and depending on which page you

look at, the plans show houses that may or may not fit on this lot. For example,

the single site plan (Attachment 5 pg. 1) shows a 40 ft house with no roof overhang

on the bump out. The site plan with two houses (Attachment 5 pg. 2) shows a 41.3



















































Page 11 of 17 

ATTACHMENT 3 

Seasons 16 LLC Response to Appeal 

 



Attorneys at Law 
llw-law.com 

01382872-1 

Planning Commission 

City of Marathon, Florida 

RESPONSE TO APPEAL 

Appeal No.:  DP2020-0123 

Appellant:  Jim Stelzer 

116 Mockingbird Lane Marathon, FL 33050 

Permit Appealed: P2020-0637, Issued: August 27, 2020 

Subject Property Lot 26 Tropic Isle Section A PB6-73 

123 Mockingbird Lane 

____________________________________________________________________________________ 

On behalf of Season 16, LLC, please accept the following response to the appeal of its Building Permit 

No. P2020-0637, filed by Jim Seltzer. 

I. FACTS 

Seasons 16, LLC (“Owner”), is the owner of the Subject Property previously described as evidenced by the 

Warranty Deed. (Appeal, Attachment 11) Owner through its duly authorized agent seeks to develop the 

Subject Property for residential use. The necessary permits were sought from the City of Marathon (“City”) 

by Owner acting as the Authorized Agent for the previous owners Albert Kretschmer III & Harriet 

Kretschmer. (Appeal, Attachment 12) The City granted two permits regarding the development of the 

Subject Property – P2020-0637 and P2020-0528. The Appellant specifically appealed P2020-0637 

(“Permit”) but did not challenge P2020-0528. The Subject Property carries a Zoning and Land Use 

designation of Residential Medium (RM). The City granted permit P2020-0637 because Owner meets all 

relevant criteria found in the City of Marathon Land Development Regulations (hereinafter “LDRs”).  

II. ANALYSIS 

A.  Applicable Law  

Owner has demonstrated compliance with all applicable City codes and ordinances and is entitled to its 

Permit. It is well established law that once an applicant has demonstrated compliance with all applicable 

codes and ordinances, the burden of proof shifts to the government to establish by competent and 

substantial evidence why the permits should not be issued. Bd. of County Com'rs of Brevard County v. 

Snyder, 627 So. 2d 469, 476 (Fla. 1993)

In this case, City staff carefully reviewed the Permit application based on all applicable LDR criteria and, 

after determining that the application was fully compliant, issued the Permit. Staff’s interpretation of the 

LDRs is entitled to deference and should be honored unless clearly incorrect. Broward Cty. V G.B.V. Int’l 

Ltd., 787 So.2d 838 (Fla. 2001). 



01382872-1 

For these reasons, this Planning Commission may not rescind the subject Permit unless the Appellant 

provides competent substantial evidence as to why the Permit does not meet the requirements of 

applicable law. The subject Appeal utterly fails to establish any facts indicating that the Permit does not 

comply with applicable law and, therefore, the appeal must be denied. 

B. The Owner is Entitled to the Permit as a Matter of Law 

As analyzed in detail below, Appellant provided no evidence demonstrating that the subject Permit was 

issued in violation of any City LDR or Ordinance. Therefore, the Planning Commission must uphold the 

Permit as issued. 

Appellant Argument 1. The buildable square footage of the lot is not large enough to allow for two single 

family homes in an RM neighborhood and the definition of submerged lands is 

being applied incorrectly on the permit as described below. 

Calculation of Buildable Square Footage 

Square Feet 

Property Appraiser Site Square Footage*  19,000 

Less submerged lands that do not have a density calculation**   1,933 

Independent Licensed Surveyor Calculation above mean high water level***   17,067 

Square Footage Required Per City Ordinance Table 103.15.2 (Attachment 2) 

Land Density required per dwelling per City Ordinance   8,712 

Two dwellings require   17,424 

Footnotes: 

*qPublic.net Monroe county, FL (Attachment 3) 

**Footnotes to Table 103.15.2 (Attachment 2 pg. 3) 

** Reese Surveyors Property Survey (Attachment 4) 

Builder is short at least 357 square feet to build two dwellings (17,424 less 17, 067). 

Land below the mean high water line was not being subtracted from the 19,000 sq. ft. to calculate 

the actual buildable square footage of the lot. The independent survey (Attachment 4) clearly 

shows the mean high water line and the footnotes to Table 103.15.2 (Attachment 2 pg. 3) clearly 

state that "allocated densities for all zoning districts are subject to the following additional 

requirements:" 

• Salt marsh/buttonwood association wetlands that are either undisturbed or of high 
functional capacity as defined in Article 4, of Chapter 106 shall be assigned a density of 
0.25 units per acre for the sole purpose of transferring the density out of these habitats. 



01382872-1 

• Submerged lands, salt ponds and mangrove wetlands shall not be assigned density for 
any purpose (i.e., allocated density = 0). 

The definition of submerged land per Chapter 110 Article 3 Defined Terms is as follows: 

Submerged Land: Land below the mean high tide line and/or the mean high water line of an upland 

water body. 

As seen by the calculations and definitions in the Marathon City Ordinances, the planning 

department has not calculated the density properly and this project does not meet minimum 

requirements. Therefore the property owners of Mockingbird Lane are requesting the permit to be 

rescinded. 

1. Response to Appellants Argument No. 1.  

The Appellant attempts to conflate an issue related to the calculation of density pursuant to the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan with the City’s LDR requirements for splitting lots. The Appellant incorrectly asserts 

that the City cannot include that portion of the Subject Property lying below the mean high tide line when 

evaluating whether or not the property meets LDR provisions regarding lot size. This is incorrect, as 

reiterated by City Staff in its response to Appellant, which is entitled to deference as explained above. 

As evidenced by the Owner’s survey, which was attached as Attachment 4 to Appellant’s Appeal, Owner’s 

parcel clearly meets the requirements of applicable sections of the City’s LDRs for a lot split.  Section 

102.46 requires that a parcel be at least 17,423 sq.ft. to allow for a lot split. In his appeal, Appellant 

concedes that the square footage of the property is 19,000 sq.ft.   

Owner’s parcel is also compliant with Section 102.46 of the City’s LDRs, which requires that the resulting 

parcels from a lot split be at least 8,712 sq.ft. to accommodate construction of a residential structure.  By 

virtue of his admission to the overall square footage of the lot, Appellant is also conceding that the 

resulting lots are code compliant. 

The import of property lying below the mean high tide line relates solely to the calculation of appropriate 

density on a given piece of property. The Appellant contends that the areas below the mean high tide line 

should not be utilized when calculating density.  City Staff considered this issue during their review and 

determined that the Property carries adequate density for the construction authorized by the Permit.  

Nonetheless, even assuming Appellant’s argument is correct as to density,  in order to moot this argument 

entirely, the Owner has requested a transfer of density to the Property pursuant to LDR, Chapter 107. 

Thus, Appellant’s arguments are rendered moot upon the transfer of density, pursuant to the LDR.  

In summary, Appellant has conceded that the Subject Property conforms to the requirements of the City’s 

LDRs for a lot split. Further, Appellant’s claim regarding the calculation of density contradicts City Staff’s 

interpretation, which must be given deference.  Nonetheless,  even assuming Appellant is correct in his 

calculation of density for the property (which he is not), the issue is moot as a result of the pending 

transfer of density request. Thus, Appellant has failed to provide competent and substantial evidence 

demonstrating that the Permit does not conform to applicable law and the Permit must be upheld. 



01382872-1 

Appellant Argument 2. Encroachment issues 

a.  Plan inconsistency — Questionable if the lot is wide enough 

The width of the lot is 100 fit wide. Since the builder is trying to build two houses on the one lot, 

the widest each house can be is 40 ft. wide with five foot setbacks from each of the side rooflines. 

(4 setbacks x 5 ft. each = 20 ft.) Because the builder is using every inch of width possible on this 

lot, the plans need to be accurate and the homes built exactly to the inch so that there are no 

encroachment issues. 

The plan package measurements do not agree and depending on which page you look at, the plans 

show houses that may or may not fit on this lot. For example, the single site plan (Attachment 5 

pg. 1) shows a 40 ft house with no roof overhang on the bump out. The site plan with two houses 

(Attachment 5 pg. 2) shows a 41.3 ft. house (scales on page don't match) with an overhang on the 

bump out. The roof plan shows a house that is 41 ft. wide (Attachment 5 pg. 3). 

Since two houses are being built on a single lot, you would assume that the lot would be laid out 

according to the site plan which displays two houses (41.3 ft. per house). If that is the case, the 

houses do not fit on the lot. 

In addition, the site plan with two houses (Attachment 5 pg. 2) only shows a setback of 10 ft 

between the two houses from wall to wall instead of roofline to roofline. 

Ordinance Chapter 107, Section 107.35 states: 

"Measurement: In measuring a setback, the horizontal distance between the lot line and the 

further most project of the principal building shall be used." 

The property owners of Mockingbird Lane are requesting that The City only accept accurate plans 

especially when buildings are being built exactly to the setback. Because this issue has been 

brought up to the Planning Director and City Planner in meetings by the owners of Mockingbird 

Lane, we feel a setback variances will not be acceptable once the homes are built. We are 

requesting that the permit be rescinded until proper and consistent plans are submitted for 

structures that fit on the lot. 

b.  Swales — 

The site plan drawings for unit 2 shows swale A (which is 5' wide and 1 ft deep) starting at the roof 

line and butting up against the adjacent properties fence. (See Attachment 5 page 1) 

Fill was brought in and raised the property elevation higher than the adjacent property. The 

current swale drawing does not fit in the area designated because the swale drawing shows a 5 ft 

swale 1 ft deep surrounded by permeable soil. In this case, the line trench fabric will be against the 

neighbor's fence which is plastic and not permeable soil. The water will runoff onto the adjacent 

property and undercut the neighbor's fence over time.  

The crest of the swale needs to be at a minimum the same elevation as the adjacent property. 



01382872-1 

The property owners of Mockingbird Lane are requesting that the permit be rescinded until proper 

plans are submitted where the swale drawings properly reflect what needs to be done for the 

actual elevation of the property. 

2. Response to Appellants Argument No. 2.

Preliminarily, it must be noted that, by its terms, the Permit requires conformance with all LDR 

requirements. (Appeal, Attachment 1, p.2, Permit Condition 1.) The Owner is required to situate the 

structures to meet the relevant setbacks as clearly required by Permit Condition 1.  Appellant’s argument 

is based on his own misreading of the permit and submitted drawings. The permit cannot be overturned 

on the grounds of an alleged future violation that has not be substantiated. To the contrary, the site plan 

submitted by the Owner meet all applicable setbacks requirements and the Owner is not requesting any 

variances to these LDR requirements to construct the residential structure. Thus, Appellants have failed 

to provide competent substantial evidence to support overturning the Permit. 

The Appellant makes additional claims regarding the swale described by the site plan. Again, on its face, 

the Permit requires compliance with all applicable Code provisions and it cannot be overturned based on 

unsubstantiated claims that the permit will be violated in the future.  Even so, the Appellant offers no 

evidence to support his prediction that the swale will cause damage to the adjacent property in the future. 

To the contrary, evidence in the record demonstrate that these allegations are unfounded. Permit 

Condition 7 clearly requires that: “All storm water must be retained on site.” (Appeal, Attachment 1, p.2, 

Permit Condition 7.) The site plan appropriately accounts for the storm water requirements of the LDR 

and ensures that the development will occur in a manner to avoid the type of harm feared by the 

Appellant. The Appellant has failed to offer proof that the specific requirements of the LDR have not been 

met and therefore the Permit cannot be overturned on these grounds. 

Appellant Argument 3. Intent to Subdivide 

A simple subdivision is defined in the City Ordinances Chapter 110 Article 3 as follows. 

Simple Subdivision: The subdivision of a parcel with a duplex structure into two (2) separate parcels 

or alternatively, the subdivision of a vacant parcel into two (2) legal parcels each of which meets 

all of the requirements of the City's Comprehensive Plan and Land Development Regulations. 

The developer clearly plans to subdivide this lot as can be seen by: 

•  The site plans which indicate a Lot A and Lot B. Lot A indicates 52' of street frontage.  
Lot B indicates 48' of street frontage and there are two separate driveways. (See Attachment 5 
pg. 2) 

•  Two permits have been issued (See Attachment 1 and Attachment 6) 
•  Lots are being advertised individually and this has been brought to the city's attention.  

(See Attachment 7) 

This is important due to City Code requirements: 

• The existing lot must be 26,136 square feet to subdivide into two lots per city ordinance Chapter 
102 Article 10 Table 102.46.1 Simple Subdivision. The 123 Mockingbird Lane lot is much smaller 
than the   required 26,136 sq. feet. (See Attachment 8 pg. 2) 



01382872-1 

• Zoning requirements require 100' of street frontage per lot. (See Attachment 8 Page 2) 
• The site plans show an obvious setback encroachment between the two units if the subdivision 

occurs. 
  (See Plan Inconsistency 2a above). 
•  This is no longer a vacant parcel per the definition of a Simple Subdivision (See definition 

above). 

The property owners on Mockingbird Lane request that the Planning Commission not allow this 

lot to be subdivided if it is requested in the future and to keep to the required 100 ft. of street 

frontage. 

3. Response to Appellants Argument No. 3.

Although the Appellants complaint regarding this issue is entirely premature and not ripe for 

consideration as part of the Planning Commission’s review of the subject Permit, we are addressing it here 

because it is entirely without merit.  

The Appellant correctly assumes that the Owner seeks to subdivide the Subject Property pursuant to LDR, 

Section 102.46.  In recognition of the fact that LDR Table 102.46.1 can be misinterpreted, George Garrett, 

Planning Director issued Administrative Interpretation 20-03 to clarify the application of the table based 

on its plain terms. As discussed above, this interpretation must be given deference. (Broward, 787 So.2d 

838 (Fla. 2001). Administrative Interpretation 20-03 inserts logic into Table 102.46.1 to avoid an absurd 

result. The Appellant attempts to apply an unreasonable interpretation to the LDR, contending that the 

minimum size of a “parent” lot must be at least large enough to accommodate three individual lots, after 

a lot split. Administrative Interpretation 20-03 clarifies that the “parent” lot must be 17,423 sq.ft. and 

accommodates the resultant minimum lot size of 8,712 sq.ft. This clarification by the Planning Director is 

certainly within the duties imposed by the City pursuant to LDR 102.138. By its terms, Administrative 

Interpretation 20-03 will apply until the table is modified. 

The Appellant also prematurely and incorrectly argues that the subject lot will not conform to LDR 

provisions regarding street frontage requirements. As part of the permitting process, pursuant to LDR 

Section 102.46 E.1, in lieu of providing the stated amount of street frontage for each resulting lot, the 

Owner has requested approval of a joint driveway access agreement. The approval of this request is 

ministerial in nature and the Owner is entitled to issuance because all code requirements are clearly met.  

In summary, this argument is not ripe and is therefore not relevant to the appeal of the Permit at issue. 

Nonetheless, the Appellant’s argument fails as to the requested lots split because he has offered no 

evidence demonstrating that the request does not meeting applicable LDR requirements. The Appeal 

must fail on this point. 

Appellant Argument 4.  The planned build does not fit the look and feel of the Tropic Isle Subdivision. 

• No lots have been subdivided since the original subdivision of Tropic Isle in 1970  

(See Attachment 9). 

• All lots have 100 ft of street frontage unless they are one of the pie shaped lots in the circle. 



01382872-1 

•  All lots have been developed using the same look and feel except for the last 3 vacant lots which 

have been purchased or are under contract by Seasons 16. 

The neighborhood is trying to keep the feel of large lots with larger than required setbacks. Until 

this permit, the look and feel has been maintained by everyone in the neighborhood except 

Seasons 16. 

Chapter 100 Article 1 Section 100.02. - Purpose and intent states that "the City has developed 

these land development regulations to implement the Comprehensive Plan and to protect the 

character, environment and viability through:. 

A: Protection of the small town family feel of the community; 

M. Ensuring new and redevelopment compliments and enhances community character; 

N: Implementation of thoughtful controlled growth." 

The Mockingbird Lane neighborhood requests that the Planning Commission allows us to maintain 

our small town family feel by not allowing the last builder in our subdivision to change the look 

and feel that we have maintained up until this point. We request that two residences not be 

allowed on this single family lot or allow the lot to be subdivided. 

4. Response to Appellants Argument No. 4.

The Appellant’s argument amounts to a challenge to the City’s own LDRs establishing setbacks in a 

baseless effort to require setbacks larger than currently required. The LDRs compliance with the City’s 

Comprehensive Plan cannot be challenged through an appeal of this Permit.   

Issuance of the Permit by the City was done pursuant to the criteria clearly outlined in the City’s LDRs. The 

LDR provision cited by the Appellant, Section 100.02, states that the LDRs meets the intent and 

requirements of the City’s Comprehensive Plan. As previously outlined, the Owner has met the relevant 

requirements of the LDR and therefore, satisfies the Comprehensive Plan. Approval must be granted by 

the City when the Owner demonstrates compliance with the applicable code provisions. (Snyder. See also 

Premier Developers III Assocs. v. City of Fort Lauderdale, 920 So. 2d 852, (Fla. 4th D.C.A. 2006)). 

In summary, the appeal of this Permit is not the proper forum for challenging the compliance of a City LDR 

provision with the City’s Comprehensive Plan. Thus, because Appellants provide no evidence 

demonstrating that the Permit violates any LDR provisions with regard to setback requirements, this 

argument fails and the Permit cannot be overturned on these grounds. 

Appellant Argument 5. Work was done before the permit was issued. 

Chapter 102 Article 14 Section 102.18 states the following: 

B. Improvements without a Building Permit: When a building permit is required, site work, site 

clearing, grading, improvement of property or construction of any type shall not be 

commenced prior to the issuance of the permit. 

a. Removal of Buttonwood comment was added on 8/19 to the permit. The permit was issued 



01382872-1 

two weeks after the buttonwood was removed. (See Attachment 1) 

b. Letter of commencement was filed 7 days before the permit was issued. (See Attachment 1 and 

Attachment 10) 

The property owners on Mockingbird Lane request that all construction conform to the permits. 

Work beginning before a permit is issued sets a precedent that builders can begin work when they 

want as opposed to beginning work once it is permitted. Code Compliance needs to review 

commencement documentation and permits (current and previous) to correctly enforce 

regulations. 

5. Response to Appellants Argument No. 5.

The Appellant’s argument incorrectly assumes that work on the Subject Property was done pursuant to 

the Permit. However, as noted in a memorandum issued by the Planning Director, limited work was 

completed on the Subject Property pursuant to a different permit issued to the previous owners. (See 

attached, Garrett Memo.) The Appellant’s argument is therefore without merit and must fail. 

Appellant Argument 6.  Permit not valid do to inaccuracies in paperwork  

Permit P2020-0637 was not issued to Seasons 16 who acquired the property on 6/25/20 per the 

Deed Warranty. (See Attachment 11). They were issued to the previous owners Albert E 

Kretschmer II and Harriet Gates Krestschmer. The previous owners gave authorization to Seasons 

16 to do General Planning for the lot while it was still under their name but did not authorize them 

to apply for and have a permit issued in their name. (See Attachments 1, 11, 12) 

The property owners on Mockingbird Lane are asking the City Planning Department to make sure 

that Building Applications are being submitted for the correct authorized work and that permits 

are issued in the correct name. As of 9/23, the permit was still not issued in the correct name and 

therefore was not valid. 

Response to Appellants Argument No. 6.

As previously discussed, the application materials supporting the Permit accurately and clearly illustrate 

that the relevant LDR provisions are met. The hearing before the Planning Commission is a de novo review. 

The evidence presented at the hearing, including the staff report, clearly demonstrates that all relevant 

LDR requirements are met and the permit was correctly issued. Appellants have offered no evidence, let 

alone competent substantial evidence, that the Permit violates any provision of City Code. Therefore, the 

Appeal must fail and the Permit must be upheld. 

III. CONCLUSION

The Owner submitted information to the City that demonstrated the application’s compliance with all 

applicable requirements of the LDRs. City Staff reviewed the application materials and issued the Permit 

based on a finding that the application complied with all applicable LDR provisions. Florida law requires 

that the interpretation of the LDRs by City staff be given deference.  



01382872-1 

In this Appeal, the Appellant bears the burden to produce competent substantial evidence demonstrating 

that the Permit was issued in contravention of the City’s laws. The Appellant’s flawed allegations fail to 

meet the required burden of proof. The Appellant has indicated that he does not intend to introduce 

expert testimony during the hearing. (Appeal, p.2.) Therefore the Appeal must fail and the Permit must 

be upheld as a matter of law. 

It should also be noted that the Appellant purports to represent his entire neighborhood. However, the 

Appellant did not provide any evidence that authorizes him to speak on behalf of anyone else. Therefore, 

he is not a duly authorized agent of the residents of Mockingbird Lane and he may not speak on their 

behalf. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

Tara W. Duhy, Esq. 

Executive Shareholder 

Lewis, Longman & Walker, P.A. 



Page 1 of 6 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

 

Date:  September 4, 2020  

 

To:  For the File 

 

From:  George Garrett, Planning Director 

 

Subject:   Residential Permits P2020-0528 & P2020-0637 

 

 

BACKGROUND: 

Albert Kretschmer and Harriet Gates applied for the approval of a single family residence 

through BPAS on June 13, 2017.  The property in question is located on Mockingbird Lane (RE 

No. 00355417.002600 / Lot 26, Tropical Isle, Section A) in Marathon and has a Zoning 

Designation of Residential Medium (RM).  The permit was issued to the applicants on August 3, 

2018.  Minimal work was completed between issuance and the purchase of the property by 

Seasons 16, LLC. 

 

00355417-002600 – Season 16 LLC 

Location 

 

 
 

 



Page 2 of 6 

Season 16 LLC assumed the Kretschmer permit and applied for a second permit with the transfer 

of a Transferble Building Right (TBR) to the property.  The premise for request is that the RM 

zoning classification allows five (5) residential units per acre.  See Table 103.15.2 of the City’s 

Land Development Regulations. 

 

The neighborhood is not happy with the fact that the City issued both permits, thus allowing two 

residences on the property in question. 

 

CONSIDERATION: 

 

At 5 residential units per acre, the minimum property area for one residential unit is 8,712 square 

feet (43,560 sq. ft./acre  /  5 unit/acre = 8,712 sq. ft. per unit).  The property in question is 19,058 

square feet in area.  At 19,058 square feet, the property would allow 2.19 (2) residences (19,058 

sq. ft. / 8,712 sq. ft./Unit).  The number of residential units allowed rounds down to the nearest 

integer. 

 

Other considerations 

 

• Density does not accrue to mangrove forests, water, or submerged land 

o There does not appear to be any submerged land or water as part of the platted 

property 

o There does appear to wetlands along the shoreline below Mean High Water 

(MHW) 

• The residences built must meet all othe aspects of the City’s Comprehensive Plan and 

Land Development Regulations 

 

The neighbors have sought to review and have been provided the approved plans.  In particular, 

City staff has heard that the surveyed property area is less than the required area of 17,424 for 

two residential units.  Staff has also heard that the residential setbacks were not properly applied 

or approved.  A concern has also been raised that Season 16 plans to subdivide the property and 

will not be able to meet the minimum 100 foot fron lot line width. 

 

ANALYSIS: 

 

The City issued the two permits in question based on the survey provided by Seasons 16 LLC 

which closely comports with the records of the Monroe County Property Appraiser.  Again, the 

area of lot 26 is approximately 19,058 square feet.  Apparently, none of the property is 

characterized as submerged land or water, although some portion IS below MHW.  See 

Boundary Survey attached as Attachment 1. 

 

The neighbors acquired and reviewed a copy of a MHW survey of the same property.  There is 

an approximately 2,000 square foot difference between the two.  This may account for the 

discrepancy between the City review of the project and the issuance of two permits and the 

neighbors view that the property is too small for two residential units.  See Attachment 2.   

 

CONCLUSION: 



Page 3 of 6 

 

 

The City believes that it properly issued both permits in question  (P2020-0528 &  P2020-0637).    

The property in question exceeds the minimum lot area of 17,424 square feet required unde the 

City’s LDRs. 

 

The City has reviewed the plan set for each of the permits issued and has confirmed that the 

identical residences meet front, side, and rear set backs as well as the minimum distance between 

buildings (as measure from the eaves). 

 

Additional Considerations 

 

If it were true that the property in question were under the minimum lot size for two residences, 

then it would be possible to transfer residential density to the property to make up for any 

difficiency.  There is a limit to how much density could be transferred pursuant to the following 

policies found within the Comprehensive Plan: 

 

Policy 1-3.2.4  Density Increase Provisions 

Special provisions and criteria have been shall be established in the Land Development 

Regulations to provide incentives to increase the supply of affordable housing by allowing 

for high density for affordable units.  This high density shall only be available for Residential 

Medium, Residential High and Mixed Use Commercial categories.  The transfer of 

development rights (TDR’s) is not required for affordable units under these provisions.  

Assigned density under these provisions cannot exceed a maximum of 25 units per acre, as 

provided for in Table 1-1 and this density can only be applied to the following environmental 

habitats: 

• Disturbed with Hammock 

• Disturbed 

• Disturbed with exotics 

• Scarified 

Property owners may seek a FLUM change to a FLUM category which would allow a greater 

residential density.  However, there shall be no presumption in any request that the request 

must be or will be granted by the City.  If the FLUM change is granted, then the difference in 

residential density between the two FLUM categories shall be achieved through a transfer of 

TDRs which shall not exceed the density allowed in Table 1-1 for the new FLUM category.  

The Transfer of Development Rights shall be accomplished in accordance with the provision 

of Policy 1-3.5.16. 

 

Policy 1-3.5.16 Program for Transfer of Density and Building Rights (TDR’s and TBR’s) 

a. The transfer of density and building rights within the City’s boundaries shall attempt to 

achieve the following: 

  

1. Protect environmental resources in balance with the protection of property rights; 

2. Encourage the replacement of substandard structures, non-conforming structures, 

structures within environmentally sensitive habitat; structures subject to repetitive flood 

damage, and units or non-residential square footage which exceeds density limitations; 



Page 4 of 6 

3. Facilitate redevelopment and revitalize the commercial centers by concentrating mixed 

use activities; 

4. Facilitate the redevelopment and revitalization of hotels and motels in the City; 

5. Protect housing affordability and facilitate the provision of new affordable housing units 

throughout the City; 

6. Redistribute existing residential units or densities from more environmentally sensitive 

properties to less environmentally sensitive properties to encourage infill development 

and achieve planned densities without increasing the overall density; 

7. Protect environmentally sensitive sites through the removal of existing dwelling units or 

allocated development rights; 

8. Encourage the placement of conservation easements on environmentally sensitive or 

flood prone parcels of land;  

9. Further the public good and the goals, objectives and policies of the Plan; 

10. Protect housing affordability and facilitate the provision of new affordable housing units 

throughout the City. 

 

b. Transfer of Residential Density (TDRs) 

1. Residential density (TDRs) shall only be transferable from a FLUM category of lower 

density to one of higher density as defined in Table 1-1 of the Comprehensive Plan.  

Properties with a FLUM category of Conservation shall not be eligible as TDR receiver sites.  

TDRs are only transferable to receiver site properties whose habitats are deemed by the City 

Biologist to be less sensitive than the sender site properties as defined in policy 4-1.5.7. 

2. Increases in Residential Density which are greater than those allowed for a given FLUM 

category in Table 1-1 may occur, but shall only occur as a result of a TDR transfer.  Such 

TDR transfers shall not exceed 20 percent of the Future Land Use Densities allowed by 

FLUM category in Table 1-1. 

3. If a property owner intends to achieve a residential density higher than a 20 percent 

increase over that allowed in Table 1-1, then the owner must seek a FLUM change to a 

FLUM category which would allow a greater residential density.  However, there shall be no 

presumption in any request that the request must be or will be granted by the City.  If the 

FLUM change is granted, then the difference in residential density between the two FLUM 

categories must be achieved through a transfer of TDRs which shall not exceed the density 

allowed in Table 1-1 for the new FLUM category. 

4. The transfer of TDRs is subject to approval by the City based on the criteria established 

in b.1. and b.2. above.  All transfers of TDRs must identify the removal of the TDRs from the 

sender site and their transfer to the receiving site and be recorded in the chain of title for both 

properties. 

5. Lands for which all residential density has been entirely removed must have a 

maintenance program to continuously remove exotic invasive vegetation or be transferred to 

an appropriate land management entity, such as the State of Florida or the City of Marathon. 

 

If the Seasons 16 Inc were to subdivide the parcel, now with two building pemits, the Applicant 

would be required to meet the Subdivision and Platting requirements of Chapter 102, Article 10 

of the Land Development Regulations. 



Page 5 of 6 

 

Attachment 1 

Boundary Survey – 00355417-002600 

 

 



Page 6 of 6 

Attachment 2 

Mean High Water Survey – 00355417-002600 

 

 



Page 12 of 17 

ATTACHMENT 4 

Additional Considerations 

 

Comprehensive Plan 

 

Policy 1-3.2.4  Density Increase Provisions 

Special provisions and criteria have been shall be established in the Land Development Regulations 

to provide incentives to increase the supply of affordable housing by allowing for high density for 

affordable units.  This high density shall only be available for Residential Medium, Residential High 

and Mixed Use Commercial categories.  The transfer of development rights (TDR’s) is not required 

for affordable units under these provisions.  Assigned density under these provisions cannot exceed a 

maximum of 25 units per acre, as provided for in Table 1-1 and this density can only be applied to 

the following environmental habitats: 

• Disturbed with Hammock 

• Disturbed 

• Disturbed with exotics 

• Scarified 

Property owners may seek a FLUM change to a FLUM category which would allow a greater 

residential density.  However, there shall be no presumption in any request that the request must be 

or will be granted by the City.  If the FLUM change is granted, then the difference in residential 

density between the two FLUM categories shall be achieved through a transfer of TDRs which shall 

not exceed the density allowed in Table 1-1 for the new FLUM category.  The Transfer of 

Development Rights shall be accomplished in accordance with the provision of Policy 1-3.5.16. 

 

 

 

 

Policy 1-3.5.16 Program for Transfer of Density and Building Rights (TDR’s and TBR’s) 

a. The transfer of density and building rights within the City’s boundaries shall attempt to achieve 

the following: 

  

1. Protect environmental resources in balance with the protection of property rights; 

2. Encourage the replacement of substandard structures, non-conforming structures, structures 

within environmentally sensitive habitat; structures subject to repetitive flood damage, and units 

or non-residential square footage which exceeds density limitations; 

3. Facilitate redevelopment and revitalize the commercial centers by concentrating mixed use 

activities; 

4. Facilitate the redevelopment and revitalization of hotels and motels in the City; 

5. Protect housing affordability and facilitate the provision of new affordable housing units 

throughout the City; 

6. Redistribute existing residential units or densities from more environmentally sensitive 

properties to less environmentally sensitive properties to encourage infill development and 

achieve planned densities without increasing the overall density; 

7. Protect environmentally sensitive sites through the removal of existing dwelling units or 

allocated development rights; 



Page 13 of 17 

8. Encourage the placement of conservation easements on environmentally sensitive or flood prone 

parcels of land;  

9. Further the public good and the goals, objectives and policies of the Plan; 

10. Protect housing affordability and facilitate the provision of new affordable housing units 

throughout the City. 

 

b. Transfer of Residential Density (TDRs) 

1. Residential density (TDRs) shall only be transferable from a FLUM category of lower density to 

one of higher density as defined in Table 1-1 of the Comprehensive Plan.  Properties with a FLUM 

category of Conservation shall not be eligible as TDR receiver sites.  TDRs are only transferable to 

receiver site properties whose habitats are deemed by the City Biologist to be less sensitive than the 

sender site properties as defined in policy 4-1.5.7. 

2. Increases in Residential Density which are greater than those allowed for a given FLUM 

category in Table 1-1 may occur, but shall only occur as a result of a TDR transfer.  Such TDR 

transfers shall not exceed 20 percent of the Future Land Use Densities allowed by FLUM category in 

Table 1-1. 

3. If a property owner intends to achieve a residential density higher than a 20 percent increase over 

that allowed in Table 1-1, then the owner must seek a FLUM change to a FLUM category which 

would allow a greater residential density.  However, there shall be no presumption in any request 

that the request must be or will be granted by the City.  If the FLUM change is granted, then the 

difference in residential density between the two FLUM categories must be achieved through a 

transfer of TDRs which shall not exceed the density allowed in Table 1-1 for the new FLUM 

category. 

4. The transfer of TDRs is subject to approval by the City based on the criteria established in b.1. 

and b.2. above.  All transfers of TDRs must identify the removal of the TDRs from the sender site 

and their transfer to the receiving site and be recorded in the chain of title for both properties. 

5. Lands for which all residential density has been entirely removed must have a maintenance 

program to continuously remove exotic invasive vegetation or be transferred to an appropriate land 

management entity, such as the State of Florida or the City of Marathon. 

 

If the Seasons 16 Inc were to subdivide the parcel, now with two building permits, the Applicant would 

be required to meet the Subdivision and Platting requirements of Chapter 102, Article 10 of the Land 

Development Regulations. 

 

 

 

 

Land Development Regulations 

 

Section 102.46. - Simple Subdivision. 

A.  Application Requirements. The submittal requirements and review procedure for all requests for 

a simple subdivision shall be in accordance with Chapter 102 and shall provide the following minimal 

information:  

1.  Proof of Ownership of the parcel or parcels proposed for simple subdivision or 

reconfiguration.  

https://library.municode.com/fl/marathon/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_APXALADERE_CH102DEAPREPR


Page 14 of 17 

2.  An independent survey of each of the proposed parcels or reconfigured parcels including 

an identification of the parent parcel in the survey.  

B.  Review and Approval Procedure.  

1.  The Director or his designee shall review the applicant for the proposed simple 

subdivision taking the following criteria into consideration:  

a.  The Simple Subdivision procedure is an administrative process carried out by the 

Director in coordination with other City staff including the Public Works and Utilities 

Directors.  

b.  With the exception of the proposed subdivision of a parcel with a duplex 

residence, the resultant parcels of a simple subdivision or reconfiguration shall meet all of 

the minimum lot area, density, intensity, clustering, and dimension requirements of the 

City's Land Development Regulations.  

c.  Otherwise, the following requirements of the following subsections apply.  

C.  Notice.  

1.  Notice is not required for a Simple Subdivision.  

D.  [Approval.] Approval of a Simple Subdivision is a ministerial function which should generally 

receive approval so long as all criteria in the review process are met.  

E.  Division of One (1) Parcel Into Two (2) Parcels. A legal lot of record may be divided into two 

(2) separate lots, parcels, tracts or other subdivision of land, without complying with the subdivision 

requirements of this article, through the simple subdivision review process, provided all of the 

conditions below are met:  

1.  The legal lot of record has frontage on and has direct access to an existing publicly 

maintained street. The access may be provided by a legally established joint driveway access to 

the public street in lieu of public street frontage for both lots upon approval by the City and City 

Attorney. The minimum lot area to allow subdivision, the minimum resulting lot area and street-

front lot width for all Land Use Districts are as follows:  

 

Table 102.46.1 

Minimum/Maximum Subdivided Lot Area and Front Lot Width 

Land Use 

District  

Minimum Existing 

Lot Area (Sq. Ft.)  

Minimum Subdivided 

Lot Area (Sq. Ft.)  

Minimum Subdivided 

Lot Area (Sq. Ft.)  

Street-Front Lot 

Width (Ft.)  

A  NA  NA  NA  NA  

C-NA  12 Acres  4 Acres  348,479  NA  

C-I  30 Acres  10 Acres  871,199  NA  

I-G  26,136  8,712  17,423  NA  

I-M  26,136  8,712  17,423  NA  

MU  21,780  7,260  14,519  NA  

MU-M  21,780  7,260  14,519  NA  

P  13,068  4,356  8,711  NA  

PR  12 Acres  4 Acres  348,479  NA  

RH  16,335  5,445  10,879  75  



Page 15 of 17 

Land Use 

District  

Minimum Existing 

Lot Area (Sq. Ft.)  

Minimum Subdivided 

Lot Area (Sq. Ft.)  

Minimum Subdivided 

Lot Area (Sq. Ft.)  

Street-Front Lot 

Width (Ft.)  

RL  6 Acres  2 Acres  87,119  NA  

RL-C  12 Acres  4 Acres  348,479  NA  

R-MH  16,335  5,445  10,879  NA  

RM  26,136  8,712  17,423  100  

RM-1  32,670  10,890  21,779  100  

RM-2  26,136  8,712  17,423  100  

  

2.  The resultant two (2) lots shall:  

a.  Meet the minimum requirements of the City Comprehensive Plan and the LDRs.  

b.  Each be memorialized with a survey showing at a minimum, the parent parcel and 

the resultant individual parcel each survey of which shall be recorded in the public 

record.  

c.  Each be memorialized with a document recorded in the public record, which shall 

include the following disclosure statement:  

"The parcel of land described in this instrument is located in the City of Marathon. The 

use of the parcel of land is subject to and restricted by the goals, policies and objectives 

of the Plan and land development regulations adopted as a part of, and in conjunction 

with and as a means of implementing the Plan. The Land Development Regulations 

provide that no building permit shall be issued for any development of any kind unless 

the proposed development complies with each and every requirement of the regulations, 

including minimum area requirements for residential development. You are hereby 

notified that under the City Land Development Regulations, the division of land into 

parcels of land which are not approved as platted lots under these regulations confer no 

right to develop a parcel of land for any purpose. You are further notified that the platting 

of land confers no rights to a building permit allocation under the Building Permit 

Allocations System (BPAS). The platting of land is not recognition of the right to a 

BPAS allocation which is predicated on availability and the Florida Keys hurricane 

evacuation model clearance time"  

3.  Any further division of a legal lot of record shall be deemed a subdivision and shall 

comply with this article and these regulations.  

4.  Reconfigured lots must be unified through a Unity of Title or a declaration of restrictions 

and covenants in a form approved by the City Attorney.  

F.  Subdivision of Duplex Lots.  

1. A parcel containing a duplex structure may be subdivided into two (2) parcels 

subdividing said duplex structure pursuant to Policy 1-3.1.2 of the City's Comprehensive Plan 

and requirements of the LDRs provided that:  

a.  Each of the parcels thus divided is memorialized with a survey showing at a 

minimum, the parent parcel and the resultant individual parcel each survey of which shall 

be recorded in the public record; and  



Page 16 of 17 

b.  A Joint Maintenance Agreement, as approved by the City Attorney, of the duplex 

structure shall be recorded in the Public Records of Monroe County by the individual lot 

owners.  

G.  Reconfiguration of Lots. From one (1) to three (3) adjacent parcels may be reconfigured; 

provided, however, that the sale, exchange or reconfiguration of lots to or between adjoining property 

owners of the re-subdivided lots meet all of the following:  

1.  Does not create additional lots or the potential for additional density or intensity;  

2.  Does not alter rights-of-way or other areas dedicated for public use;  

3.  The new lots and any residual land meets the requirements of the City's Plan and LDRs;  

4.  Reconfigured lots must be unified through a Unity of Title or a declaration of restrictions 

and covenants in a form approved by the City Attorney.  

5.  Reconfiguration does not convey any additional right to clear native vegetation beyond 

those limits established in the LDRs or as may have been established by conservation easement.  

 

 

 



Page 17 of 17 

ATTACHMENT 5 

Administrative Interpretation AI 20-03 

 

 



 

 

 

1 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE INTERPRETATION 2020-03 

 

From:   George Garrett, Planning Director  

 

To:    City Manager, City Attorney, Planning Staff, the File 

 

Date:    September 4, 2020 

 

Subject:   Administrative Interpretation 20-03:  Interpretation of Table 102.46.1, 

“Minimum/Maximum Subdivided Lot Area and Front Lot Width” 

 

 

AUTHORITY 

 

LDRs 

CHAPTER 102 

 

ARTICLE 22. - INTERPRETATION OF REGULATIONS 

 

Section 102.138. - Director Authorized. 

 

Unless otherwise provided herein, the Director of Planning is authorized to interpret all 

provisions of the LDRs.  

 

Section 102.139. - Formal Request for Interpretation. 

 

The Director shall render interpretations of this LDR pursuant to this article. Unless waived by 

the Director, all formal requests for an interpretation shall be submitted on forms provided by the 

City.  

 

Section 102.140. - Form of Response. 

 

A. Written Response: The interpretation shall be provided in writing to the applicant.  

B. Notice to Property Owner: If the individual requesting an interpretation is not the property 

owner, the interpretation shall also be mailed to the property owner within seven (7) working 

days after the Director issues the written response.  

 

Section 102.141. - Official Record. 

 

The Department shall maintain an official record of all interpretations.  



 

 

 

2 
 

 

BACKGROUND 

City staff recently realized that the table “headers” in Table 102.46.1 do not make sense as they 

currently read.  The headers are: 

 

Land Use 

District 

Minimum Existing 

Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) 

Minimum 

Subdivided Lot 

Area (Sq. Ft.) 

Minimum 

Subdivided Lot 

Area (Sq. Ft.) 

Street-

Front Lot 

Width (Ft.) 

 

• Land Use District – This Header is correct 

• Minimum Existing Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) – This Header does not make sense when applied 

to Section 102.46 which only deals with lot splits from one parent lot into two new lots.  

The numbers in the associated column equate to one and a half times (1.5X) the 

necessary land area as required for two residential units under respective zoning 

categories. 

• Minimum Subdivided Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) – First, this column header it precisely the 

same as the next one.  Otherwise, this header is correct as it relates to the minimum lot area 

for one residential unit with respect to each zoning category. 

• Minimum Subdivided Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) – This Header is incorrect, as the column 

provides the minimum area for two residential units with respect to each zoning category. 

• Street-Front Lot Width (Ft.)  - This Header is correct 

 

ASSESSMENT 

 

However, for the obvious intent of the Table (utilized for determinations in both Sections 102.46 

and 102.47), the following interpretation of the table will apply until formally amended to read 

correctly, as intended during adoption, and  as applied in the following sections: 

 

• Land Use District = Land Use District 

• Minimum Existing Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) For Subdivision into Three (3)  or More Lots 

Section 102.47   

• Minimum Existing Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) For Subdivision into Two (2) Lots – Section 

102.46 

• Street-Front Lot Width (Ft.)  = Street-Front Lot Width (Ft.)   

 

INTERPRETATION 

 

Thus, the following interpretations of the relevant portions of Sections 102.46 and 102.47 will 

apply until the table is modified to read correctly: 



 

 

 

3 
 

 

Section 102.46 Simple Subdivision 

 

*** 

 

E. Division of one (1) parcel into two (2) parcels:  A legal lot of record may 

be divided into two (2) separate lots, parcels, tracts or other subdivision of 

land, without complying with the subdivision requirements of this article, 

through the simple subdivision review process, provided all of the 

conditions below are met:  

1. The legal lot of record has frontage on and has direct access to an 

existing publicly maintained street. The access may be provided by a 

legally established joint driveway access to the public street in lieu of 

public street frontage for both lots upon approval by the City and City 

Attorney. The minimum lot area to allow subdivision, the minimum 

resulting lot area and street-front lot width for all Land Use Districts are as 

follows:  

 

Table 102.46.1 

Minimum/Maximum Subdivided Lot Area & Front Lot Width 

 

Land Use 

District 

Minimum 

Existing Lot Area 

(Sq. Ft.) For 

Subdivision into 

Three (3) or More 

Lots Section 

102.47 

Minimum 

Subdivided 

Lot Area (Sq. 

Ft.) 

Minimum Existing 

Lot Area (Sq. Ft.) 

For Subdivision into 

Two (2) Lots – 

Section 102.46 

 

Street-

Front 

Lot 

Width 

(Ft.) 

A NA NA NA NA 

C-NA 12 Acres 4 Acres 348,479 NA 

C-)I 30 Acres 10 Acres 871,199 NA 

I-G 26,136 8,712 17,423 NA 

I-M 26,136 8,712 17,423 NA 

MU 21,780 7,260 14,519 NA 

MU-M 21,780 7,260 14,519 NA 

P 13,068 4,356 8,711 NA 

PR 12 Acres 4 Acres 348,479 NA 

RH 16,335 5,445 10,879 75 



 

 

 

4 
 

RL 6 Acres 2 Acres 87,119 NA 

RL-C 12 Acres 4 Acres 348,479 NA 

R-MH 16,335 5,445 10,879 NA 

RM 26,136 8,712 17,423 100 

RM-1 32,670 10,890 21,779 100 

RM-2 26,136 8,712 17.423 100 

 

 

Section 102.47 Minor And Major Subdivision 

A. Application Requirements: The submittal requirements and review 

procedure for all minor and major subdivision development plans shall be in 

accordance with Chapter 102 and shall provide the following minimal 

information:  

The preliminary subdivision plan for both a minor or major subdivision (and plat) 

shall be submitted on black or blue line prints drawn at an acceptable scale such 

as 50 feet to the inch on sheets no larger than 34 by 44 inches. The principle 

difference between a Minor and Major Subdivision lies in whether the subdivision 

proposes the approval of new streets which may be ultimately be dedicated to the 

City of Marathon (or remain as private streets).  The plan drawing shall include 

the following:  

*** 

14. The location of all existing lots must be shown. Proposed lot lines 

and areas must be shown as well and meet the standards set out in Table 

102.46.1   

*** 

 

 

https://www.municode.com/library/fl/marathon/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=PTIICOOR_APXALADERE_CH102DEAPREPR

	Tara Duhy response to appeal.pdf
	Facts
	Analysis
	Appellant Argument 1.
	Response to Appellants Argument No. 1.
	Appellant Argument 2.
	Response to Appellants Argument No. 2.
	Appellant Argument 3.
	Response to Appellants Arguments No. 3.
	Appellant Argument 4.
	Response to Appellants Argument No. 4.
	Appellant Argument 5.
	Response to Appellants Argument No. 5.
	Appellant Argument 6.
	Response to Appellants Argument No. 6.
	Conclusion
	G. Garrett Memorandum 9.4.2020




